No. 70597-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION I

ARTHUR WEST, appellant, Vs.

CITY OF SEATTLE, et al respondents

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On appeal from the rulings of the honorable Judge Linde

Arthur West 120 State Ave N.E. #1497 Olympia, Washington, 98501 2014 MAR - 7 PM 1: 18

URT OF APPEALS DIV I

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves deliberate silent withholding of records of weekly calendars, responsive records that were withheld from plaintiff in violation of the Public Records Act.

Significantly, while withholding these public records from West, the City provided the very same City Attorney's calendar records to the Public Disclosure Commission, where they were employed as the crucial evidence to establish violations of the Campaign laws regarding the use of City resources to conduct partisan campaign activity on behalf of I-502, in a formal enforcement proceeding by the PDC.

As the Superior Court itself recognized...

Seeing... how those scheduled events fit in and to a calendar is key to understanding what our public officials are doing... (See transcript of May 10, 2013, at page 37, lines 20-22)

It is beyond reasonable dispute that the weekly calendars of the Seattle City Attorney that were withheld from the plaintiff in this case were public records as defined RCW 42.56.010(3), and that they were responsive to West's request.

The withheld calendars were "writing" concerning the conduct of government and the performance of governmental functions "owned, used or retained1" by a local agency. (the City of Seattle)

They were known to exist and discoverable by any reasonable search, such as the search conducted for the PDC, which uncovered the existence of these records almost immediately.

The weekly calendars, as provided to the PDC, constitute "records" as defined in the Public Records

Act, and also constitute "records" that the City was

¹ RCW 42.56.010(3) provides that a... "Public record" includes any writing containing

aware of the existence of, as it admits it knew of their existence yet refused to provided them to the plaintiff until after suit was filed, after the City had stated that its search and production was complete, and after it had disclosed the same records to the Public Disclosure Commission.

Nor does the City's contention that production of individual isolated entries from the outlook calendars was the same as producing the actual calendars, as counsel admitted in argument (at page 35 of the Transcript of 5-10-13, at lines16-23) that the information on the calendars and individual entries was not identical.

The City's actions in this case violate both the letter of the law and the broad remedial intent of the Public Records Act that citizens like plaintiff West be

informed of the activities of their elected public officials such as Seattle City Attorney Pete Holmes.

Significantly, other agencies such as Snohomish County routinely provide calendar information in response to records requests.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I. THE COURT ERRED IN CONSTRUING RCW 42.56.010(3) NARROWLY TO DETERMINE CALENDARS OWNED, USED THAT RETAINED BY THE SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY TO SIMULTANEOUSLY MANAGE OFFICIAL CITY APPPOINTMENTS AND I-502 NOT CAMPAIGNING WERE RECORDS RESPONSIVE TO A REQUEST FOR RECORDS ABOUT OR CONCERNING INITIATIVE 502.

II. THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THE CITY IN VIOLATION OF THE PRA FOR WITHHOLDING SILENTLY RESPONSIVE CALENDAR RECORDS FROM WEST THAT WERE DISCLOSED TO, AND USED BY. THE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COMMISSION **ESTABLISH** MULTIPLE VIOLATIONS OF STATE LAW \mathbf{BY} SEATTLE THE CITY ATTORNEY IN **EMPLOYING** CITY RESOURCES TO SUPPORT AND CAMPAIGN FOR INITIATIVE 502.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I. DID THE COURT ERR IN CONSTRUING RCW 42.56.010(3) NARROWLY TO DETERMINE THAT CALENDARS OWNED, USED AND RETAINED BY THE SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY TO SIMULTANEOUSLY MANAGE HIS OFFICIAL CITY APPPOINTMENTS AND HIS I-502 CAMPAIGNING WERE NOT PUBLIC RECORDS RESPONSIVE TO A REQUEST FOR RECORDS ABOUT OR CONCERNING INITIATIVE 502?

II. DID THE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THE CITY IN VIOLATION OF THE PRA FOR SILENTLY WITHHOLDING RESPONSIVE CALENDAR RECORDS FROM WEST THAT WERE DISCLOSED TO, AND USED BY. THE DISCLOSURE **PUBLIC** COMMISSION TO ESTABLISH MULTIPLE **VIOLATIONS** OF STATE LAW BYTHE SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY IN **EMPLOYING** CITY RESOURCES TO SUPPORT AND CAMPAIGN FOR INITIATIVE 502?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. On August 27, 2012, Appellant West made a request for records to the City of Seattle. Section 3 of the request sought

"All records, communications or correspondence (see above) about or concerning I-502 or between the City Attorney or City Attorney's office and any sponsor or representative of the I-502 campaign, January of 2011 to the present."

- 2. On 10 /08 / 2012, plaintiff West filed a complaint for violation of the PRA. The Original Complaint clearly alleged unreasonable delay in the production of records, and withholding of records, (See Complaint at 1.1, 2.2, 3.8, 4.1, 5.1) claims that included within their scope delays and nondisclosure caused by silent withholding. (CP 44.66)
- 3. On January 7, 2013, the PDC and Pete Holmes entered an agreed order stipulating to 3 violations of the Public Disclosure Act involving

illegal use of City resources by Pete Holmes to campaign for I-502 (CPICI-8)

- 4. The records that the PDC used to establish the violations principally featured the calendars owned, used and retained by City Attorney Pete Holmes (and his secretary) to simultaneously manage his duties as Seattle City Attorney and campaign for I-502. (CP86-92)
- 5. These critical records of the activities of a public official, although responsive to West's request, and known to exist by the city, were not disclosed to West until specifically requested under discovery. (CP 83.5)
- 6. On β / 25 /2013, the defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP 67-30)

- 7. On 05 / 10 / 2013, the court granted summary judgment of dismissal. An Order was signed on 5 / 10/2013. (CP!75-77)
- 8. Plaintiff moved for reconsideration on 5 / 2 / / 2013. (CP | 73.252)
- 9. Plaintiff filed a declaration re new evidence on 05/07/ 2013. (CP|53-//)
- 10-. On 06/04/ 2013 the Court entered an Order denying reconsideration (CP 3 15)
- 11. On 07/03/2013, the Plaintiff filed a timely Notice of Appeal (CP316-21)

V. ORDERS ON APPEAL

Appellant appeals from and assigns error to the following Orders. 1. The Order Granting the City's Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP 175-7), and 2. The Order of denying Reconsideration (CP 315).

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Standard of review of a Summary Judgment is de novo. Parrilla v. King County 138 Wn. App. 427, (2007). Factual issues are reviewed under the substantial evidence standard and issues of law are reviewed de novo. State v. McCormack, 117 Wn.2d 141, 143, 812 P.2d 483 (1991). Appellant contends the Court's rulings were marred by errors of fact and law and were not based upon substantial evidence or any reasonable inference therefrom.

VII. RELIEF SOUGHT

Appellant seeks an Order vacating the dismissal of the trial court and n Order of remand with instructions for the Superior Court to, find a violation of the PRA, and award appropriate penalties, fees, and costs.

VIII. ARGUMENT

I THE COURT ERRED IN CONSTRUING RCW 42.56.010(3) NARROWLY TO DETERMINE THAT CALENDARS OWNED. USED BY RETAINED THE SEATTLE ATTORNEY TO SIMULTANEOUSLY MANAGE HIS OFFICIAL CITY APPPOINTMENTS AND HIS I-502 CAMPAIGNING WERE NOT PUBLIC RECORDS RESPONSIVE TO A REQUEST FOR RECORDS ABOUT OR CONCERNING INITIATIVE 502.

This case concerns calendar records of the Seattle City Attorney's calendar that were provided to the Public Disclosure Commission, but withheld from Appellant West. (See Transcript of 5-10-13, p. 15, lines 16-19).

The Court erred in the Orders of ____ and ___ (CP __) in construing the PRA and West's request narrowly to exclude these responsive records relating to the conduct of government and the performance of governmental functions prepared, owned, used, or retained by the City of Seattle.

RCW 42.56.010(3) provides that a...

"Public record" includes any writing containing information relating to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary function prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency regardless of physical form or characteristics.

As a remedial statute, and by the express language RCW 42.56.030, the intent section of the Public Records Act, the PRA is required to be liberally construed to effectuate its purposes.

In addition, agencies are required to afford requestors the fullest assistance in the identification and provision of responsive records.

Yet in this case the Court narrowly construed the PRA and RCW 42.56.010(3) to exclude the City Attorney's calendars, when these were beyond any reasonable argument...

"records,...about or concerning I-502"

By deliberately withholding records as basic as the weekly tabular register of the official activities of the Seattle City Attorney, the City defendants violated the manifest intent of the people in adopting the PRA, that they be informed of the activities of the agencies that serve them.

As RCW 42.56.030 specifically provides...

The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created. This chapter shall be liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed to promote this public policy and to assure that the public interest will be fully protected...

By narrowly construing the PRA, and by holding that Calendars containing I-502 related communications and campaign information were not

responsive to a request for "records,...about or concerning I-502", the Superior Court failed to effectuate the intent of the PRA that the people retain control over the instruments they have created and that the public interest be fully protected.

The Court also, in finding the Calendars containing I-502 related meetings and events non-responsive, committed errors of act and law when no evidence or reasonable inference therefrom supported their determination, and when the determination was not supported by substantial evidence. State v. McCormack, 117 Wn.2d 141, 143, 812 P.2d 483 (1991).

II THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THE CITY IN VIOLATION OF THE PRA FOR WITHHOLDING RESPONSIVE CALENDAR RECORDS FROM WEST THAT WERE DISCLOSED TO, AND USED BY. THE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COMMISSION **ESTABLISH** OF STATE LAW BY THE SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY IN **EMPLOYING** CITY RESOURCES TO SUPPORT AND CAMPAIGN FOR INITIATIVE 502.

The type of "silent withholding" practiced by the City in this case to hide the calendars of the Seattle City Attorney is among the worst type of violations of the Public Records Act.

The Supreme Court has repeatedly denounced silent withholding, declaring "silent withholding" illegal and noting that an "agency's compliance with the Public Records Act is only as reliable as the weakest link in the chain" See Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 269-71, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (PAWS II), Rental Hous.

Ass'n v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 540, 199
P.3d 393 (2009)

As the Court explained in PAWS...

The Public Records Act does not allow silent withholding of entire documents or records, any more than it allows silent editing of documents or records. Failure to reveal that some records have been withheld in their entirety requesters the misleading impression that all documents relevant to the request have been disclosed. Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 269-71, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (PAWS II) See also Rental Hous. Ass'n v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 540, 199 P.3d 393 (2009), Zink v. City of Mesa, 137 Wn.App. 271, 274, 152 P.3d 1044 (2007), Fisons, 122 Wn.2d at 350-55.

Further, despite the fact that the City has admitted that it knew of the existence of tabular registers of activities of the Seattle City Attorney containing responsive records, these were deliberately concealed from the plaintiff. Yet these same records were later provided to the PDC!

These deliberate omissions and the City's refusal to disclose known records are exacerbated by the fact that the omitted and concealed records were the smoking gun evidence necessary to clearly establish violations of the campaign laws, which the City and the Settle City Attorney had an evident interest in concealing.

Obviously, a search performed of one's supervisor's records such as that performed by Mr. Holmes subordinates may not be designed to produce evidence that would cast one's supervisor in an unfavorable light.

Under these circumstances, the failure of the City Attorney's office to conduct anything but a perfunctory in house "search" designed to miss the most damning evidence can reasonably be questioned, as an overzealous subordinate might find

their employment prospects dim after finding and disclosing clear evidence of illegal conduct by their boss.

In 20 years of seeking to hold government accountable to the public plaintiff has reviewed hundreds of thousands of pages of records. Often, buried under hundreds of pages of records are a few records that demonstrate beyond any dispute the existence of impropriety and misconduct. To paraphrase Mr. Clemens, the difference between these type of smoking gun records and others that merely imply wrongdoing is as vast as the difference between lightning and a lightning bug.

This smoking gun evidence of the weekly calendars that the City disclosed to the Public Disclosure Commission –but not to West- manifestly

demonstrated the improper use of public resources by the Seattle City Attorney to support I-502.

These smoking gun records were improperly withheld from plaintiff by the City until after a settlement was reached in the PDC complaint West filed concerning the City's use of public resources to support I-502.

If the Court allows defendants to prevail in their arguments in this case, agencies will be free to conceal this type of damning evidence from the public behind a specious smokescreen of a deliberately inadequate search made in bad faith designed to avoid records known to exist that might cast the agency in a bad light.

Under such circumstances, the intent of the Public Records Act and the Public Disclosure Act will be undermined and the requirement that the people be informed of the activities of their government will vanish behind a shell game where agencies will be free to conceal even the most basic records of their activities such as the weekly calendars of the City Attorney of the City of Seattle.

The requirement of a reasonable search was never intended to be used as a shield to justify deliberate withholding of records, particularly records as basic and fundamental to understanding governmental operations as a weekly calendar demonstrating the official job related activities of a City Attorney.

The City simply cannot be allowed to hide behind the spurious smokescreen of a "reasonable search" when records known to exist were concealed, for, as the Supreme Court and the federal judiciary have recognized, the agency bears the burden, beyond material doubt, of showing its search was adequate in cases involving disclosure of public records.

To do so, the agency... should establish that all places likely to contain responsive materials were searched. Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011), citing Valencia-Lucena, 180 F.3d at 325.

The City in this case cannot meet this burden because they did not conduct a search of, or produce the Calendar records of, the of governmental functions of the Seattle City Attorney that they have certified were known to exist.

The City records officer did not contact the Seattle City Attorney and Search his paper records or review even the most basic records as his weekly calendar.

These were places that were reasonably likely

to have responsive records, especially since it was no secret that Mr. Holmes was an outspoken and active proponent of I-502.

As the Supreme Court underscored in the Neighborhood Alliance decision...

...(A)gencies are required to make more than a perfunctory search and to follow obvious leads as they are uncovered. Valencia-Lucena v. U.S. Coast Guard, 336 U.S. App. D.C. 386, 180 F.3d 321, 326 (1999). The search should not be limited to one or more places if there are additional sources for the information requested. Valencia-Lucena, 180 F.3d at 326. Indeed, "the agency cannot limit its search to only one record system if there are others that are likely to turn up the information requested." Oglesby v. U.S. Dep't of Army, 287 U.S. App. D.C. 126, 920 F.2d 57, 68 (1990).

The City should not be allowed to veil nondisclosure of responsive records behind a perfunctory search and claim that they believed that only isolated entries existed when they were very

well aware that actual "calendars" in the form of weekly calendar records were available and "Used" by the City Attorney to manage his schedule.

Significantly, the defendants have not alleged that they were unaware of the existence of these tabular registers in the form of weekly calendars. In fact, the declaration of Mr. Jaeger demonstrates that the City was well aware of the existence of these "records" but deliberately decided not to disclose them. (See Jaeger Declaration at page 2, lines 9-10)

Defendants attempt to advance the equally false representation that a "Calendar" is merely an "index" of unrelated events, a representation that contradicts common sense the dictionary definition of calendar, and the meaning of the term calendar as it has been used for hundreds of years.

As any schoolboy is aware, a calendar is not an merely an "index" of unrelated events, but a **tabular register of sequential activities,** in this instance a complete tabular record of the official duties of a public official, Seattle City Attorney Pete Holmes, and, coincidentally, the clear and evident record that I-502 campaign activities were scheduled as part of the official duties of the Seattle City Attorney.

Mirriam Webster's defines Calendar as...

a tabular register of days according to a system usually covering one year and referring the days of each month to the days of the week

And further...

an orderly list: as... a list or schedule of planned events or activities giving dates and details

This is in accord with the original Latin Kalendarium, which was used for centuries to describe monthly account books.

By contrast, the definition of "index" is...

An alphabetical list of names, subjects, etc. with references to the places they occur, typically found in a book...

Contrary to the defendants' claims, a "calendar" is not an "index", but is a tabular register, a compendium containing a linear continuum of sequential appointments represented in columns or tables, and an integrated whole greater than the sum of its parts. This is the crucial distinction that the defendants attempt to blur and the smokescreen behind which they mendaciously attempt to hide their withholding of records and violation of the public Records Act behind.

Significantly, the courts have uniformly found silent withholding to constitute a violation of the PRA, and uniformly applied the penalty provision of RCW 42.56.550(4) when an agency has been found to

silently withhold records, as the City has in this current case. As the Supreme Court explained in PAWS...

The plain terms of the Public Records Act, as well as proper review and enforcement of the statute, make it imperative that all relevant records or portions be identified with particularity. Therefore,... an agency's response to a requester must include specific means of identifying any individual records which are being withheld in their entirety. PAWS II

By withholding the responsive calendar records that were known to exist and which were admittedly different from the isolated entries that were produced, the City violated the Public Disclosure Act.

IX. CONCLUSION

As the Superior Court implicitly recognized, the calendars owned, used and maintained by a public official such as the Seattle City Attorney are a category of records within the central core of what types of information the PRA was enacted by the people to ensure disclosure of.

The fact that the PDC relied upon these selfsame records to establish violations of the campaign laws demonstrates the imperative that the records of the activities of our public officials and guardians of law and order be readily available.

This is essential if the public is to remain informed of what their public officials, (like Seattle City Attorney Pete Holmes) are doing². In this case he was using public resources to illegally support and campaign for a partisan initiative.

The circumstance that these selfsame records were readily provided to the PDC but withheld from the plaintiff establishes a case of silent withholding

² See RCW 42.56.030, Juvenal, Satire VI, lines 347-8, (date unknown)

of the most evident and undeniable nature, especially since they formed the evidentiary basis for a stipulated finding of multiple violations of the Public Disclosure Act by the Seattle City Attorney by the PDC.