No. 70597-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF SEATTLE, et al.

Respondents,

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

Jessica Nadelman, WSBA#27569 Assistant City Attorneys Attorneys for Respondents

Seattle City Attorney's Office 600 – 4th Avenue, 4th Floor P.O. Box 94769 Seattle, Washington 98124-4769 (206) 684-8200 COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION STATE OF WASHINGTON

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews challenges to agency action under the PRA de novo. RCW 42.56.550(3); City of Federal Way v. Koenig, 167 Wn.2d 341, 344, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009); citing Soter v. Cowles Publ'g Co., 162 Wn.2d 716, 731, 174 P.3d 60 (2007). In reviewing a PRA request, "the appellate court stands in the same position as the trial court where the record consists only of affidavits, memoranda of law, and other documentary evidence." PAWS v. UW, 125 Wn.2d 243, 252, 884 P.2d 592 (1994).

B. West's assignments of error are not properly before this Court because they were only raised in response to a summary judgment motion and not in his Complaint.

West's Complaint stated a cause of action against the City for "unreasonably delaying disclosure of [public] records." CP 54. The only factual allegation in the complaint regarding the PRA concerned the timeliness or promptness of the City's response to his request. West did not raise any issues concerning "withholding" and weekly calendar view printouts until his responsive pleadings on summary judgment. West's "withholding" allegations were not properly before the trial court, and not relevant to the only disputed issue in the Complaint – whether the City responded "promptly" to his records request.

In his Opening Brief, West lists two assignments of error. He does not assign error to any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law concerning promptness. Additionally, he fails to assign error to the conclusion of law concerning adequate search. Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal. *Robel v. Roundup Corp.*, 148 Wn.2d 35, 42, 59 P.3d 611 (2002). Unchallenged conclusions of law become the law of the case. *State v. Moore*, 73 Wn.App. 805, 811, 871 P.2d 1086 (1994).

Instead, West's assignments of error focus solely on the issue of whether the City should have provided the weekly calendar view printouts. These assignments of error concern issues were never raised in his Complaint that initiated this litigation. Furthermore, the assignments of error do not refer to any of the trial court's findings of fact or conclusions of law. Assignments of error without reference to the record or legal authority are meritless. *Glazer v. Adams*, 64 Wn.2d 144, 149, 391

P.2d 195 (1964). For these reasons, West's allegations regarding the weekly calendar view printouts are not properly before this Court.

C. The trial court correctly held that the City provided all requested records, and had no obligation to provide the weekly calendar printout views.

The PRA imposes one important obligation on a records requester - a request must be for an identifiable public record so that an agency may properly respond. Hangartner v. City of Seattle, 151 Wn.2d 439, 448, 90 P.3d 26 (2004); Wood v. Lowe, 102 Wn. App. 872, 878, 10 P.3d 494 (2000). An agency has no duty to read requesters' minds. Bonamy v. City of Seattle, 92 Wn.App. 403, 412, 960 P.2d 447 (1998) review denied, 137 Wn.2d 1012, 978 P.2d 1099 (1999). "A public agency cannot be expected to disclose records that have not yet been requested." Beal v. City of Seattle, 150 Wn. App. 865, 875, 209 P.3d 872 (2009) (citations omitted). The Attorney General's Model Rules for Public Disclosure provide agencies and requesters with best practice guidance. The Model Rules state that when a request is vague and contains language such as "relating to," "the agency may interpret the request to be for records which directly and fairly address the topic." (emphasis added) WAC 44-14-04002.

West made a request for identifiable public records but expected the City to intuit that he wanted something else. Without a request that directly and fairly requested calendars, the City had no obligation to produce the weekly calendar view printouts or otherwise intuit that West actually wanted copies of calendars.³ West's request made no mention of calendars or calendar appointments. As he discusses at length in his briefing, West is well aware that individuals keep calendars and that these can be requested through a public disclosure request. On three occasions, the City described to West in writing, the selected search terms, procedures and locations it was using to locate records. CP 6-7. West had ample opportunity to let the City know he also wanted calendar printouts, but instead chose to pursue this lawsuit and appeal.

The trial court correctly held that the PRA did not require the City to provide West with the weekly calendar view printouts that contained <u>all</u> of the appointments set for Mr. Holmes when the request was limited to a particular topic – I-502 related correspondence. The trial court properly noted that the word "calendar" did not appear anywhere in West's request and recognized that there is a difference between a request for a

³ The City provided West with the records he requested. Had the City instead provided the weekly printouts, a court may have found a PRA violation because the City did not provide the records requested. Compare the facts in this case to those in *O'Neill v. City of Shoreline*, 170 Wn. 2d 138, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010). In *O'Neill*, the requester specifically requested an email with metadata. In response to the request, the City of Shoreline provided a printout of the email that did not contain the metadata. The Court found that Shoreline had violated the PRA by failing to provide the requested record. In providing the individual appointments, the City's actions were consistent with the Court's ruling in *O'Neill*.

"calendar" and "calendared events relating to a specific topic." RP 38-39. During oral argument, the Court asked West whether he received the calendar entries responsive to each of the three portions of the request, and he conceded that he had received the individual calendar events related to each part of his request. RP 28-32.

At no point in his trial court pleadings, oral argument, or Opening Brief has West provided any evidence or even argued that the language of his request included calendars. Instead, he continues to claim that the City should have provided the records because their failure to do so was part of a "conspiracy." Opening Brief 18-20.

West acknowledges that the City provided him with 39 individual calendar appointments related to I-502, but he continues to argue that the City withheld records. He characterizes the .ICS file appointment records as "edited excerpts" of the calendar. CP 84. In doing so, West ignores the inherent nature of a .ICS file, which as discussed, is the only responsive record in an Outlook database.

West further argues that because the City provided the weekly printouts to PDC it had an obligation to provide them to West. This argument is baseless, because the PDC asked the City to provide it distinctly different records. In contrast to West's request, the PDC specifically asked the City to gather records of all of the entries in Mr.

Holmes' calendar, as well as communication regarding particular calendar appointments. CP 91-96. If anything, the City's response to the PDC request, and the fact that the City provided the weekly printouts to West in response to a later specific request for those printouts, and again in discovery, shows that the City provides records when they are requested in an identifiable manner.

D. The trial court correctly held that the City did not improperly withhold the weekly calendar view printouts.

West argues that the City "silently withheld" the weekly printouts by trying to draw a parallel between the City's production of the individual appointments and that of the University of Washington in *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 269-71, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (*PAWS*). The *PAWS* case is inapplicable here. In *PAWS*, the University failed to acknowledge the existence of a number of pages from a grant proposal requested by PAWS. *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 269-71, 884 P.2d 592 (1994). In contrast, here the City disclosed all responsive records. The City did not withhold any records "silently" or any other way. The reason the City did not produce the weekly calendar printouts was because they were not requested.

West makes many dramatic allegations about the five calendar printouts. He claims that they were silently withheld because they were "smoking gun" records and "damning evidence." 81-82, 85, 145-46. He believes that even though he did not request them, and even though the .ICS files contained more detail regarding I-502 related calendar entries, he should have been provided with the weekly printouts in order to "keep public officials accountable." Id. This argument makes no sense. West used the very records provided by the City in the first two installments he received as the basis for his PDC complaint. CP 52-53, 92, 99-103. The complaint triggered an investigation and the PDC eventually found de minimus violations. CP 99-100. The violations were not based on the five printouts. They were based on three emails which were, in fact, provided to West in response to his public disclosure request. CP 52-53, 106-07. Furthermore, West was provided with the calendar printouts in response to discovery and later public disclosure requests. It is hard to imagine how providing West with the five printouts under an overbroad interpretation of his request, in violation of basic PRA guidance, would have resulted in any greater "accountability" for public officials.

E. The City fully complied with the PRA when it provided the individual appointments related to I-502.

The PRA requires that agencies respond "promptly" to a public records request. RCW 42.56.520. It further requires that agencies provide requesters with the "fullest assistance" and "most timely possible action" when fulfilling requests. RCW 42.56.100. None of these terms are defined in the PRA. In furtherance of the principles of promptness, fullest assistance and most timely possible action, the Model Rules encourage communication about the scope of the request so responsive records can be identified. WAC 44-14-04003. The Model Rules further direct that "an agency cannot "bury" a requester with nonresponsive documents." WAC 44-14-04003(9).

The City communicated with West regarding the scope of the request on three occasions and was met with silence each time. CP 6, 29. The City provided West with all responsive records based on his written request and the City's reasonable interpretation of the subject and scope of the request. West fails to acknowledge, or address the fact that the City provided him with all records actually responsive to his request. Providing individual calendar appointments related to I-502, in response

⁴ If the City had read West's request as he argues, it would have had to search for and provide West with <u>every</u> appointment, related communication and calendar printout from the City Attorney's calendar and every duplicate thereof. In a typical week, Mr. Holmes has approximately 40 appointments with hundreds of related communications. CP 86-90. The majority of these voluminous records would be nonresponsive to a request seeking records related to 1-502.

to a request for I-502-related records, both complies with PRA requirements to provide responsive records and adheres to the PRA's obligations to provide fullest assistance and most timely possible action to the requester by eliminating non-responsive, non-requested and duplicative records.

F. The trial court correctly held that the City's search for records was adequate, and in compliance with the PRA.

West does not assign error to the trial court's finding that the City performed an adequate search under the PRA. However, because he argues the issue in his Opening Brief, the City takes this opportunity to respond.

Under Washington law, "[t]he adequacy of a search is judged by a standard of reasonableness, that is, the search must be reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents." *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Co. v. County of Spokane*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 720, 261 P.3d 119 (2011). In determining the adequacy of a search, the "focus is not on whether responsive documents do in fact exist, but whether the search itself was adequate." *Id.* at 719-720. The Court in *Neighborhood Alliance* goes on to suggest that agencies should inform requesters of the terms, type and location of their intended search "since doing so may avoid litigation." *Id.* at 721. The Model Rules state that agencies should search

where is it most likely that responsive documents would be located, "even though other departments may have copies or alternative versions of the same documents." WAC 44-14-04003(9).

The City performed a carefully designed search of nine employees' records, using precisely-chosen search terms, that was reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents. The City repeatedly communicated the parameters of its intended search to West. Despite West's baseless claims to the contrary, the City supplemented its search of electronic records with a search of hundreds of pages of hard copy files. CP 6-7, 29, 30. West responds to the City's evidence regarding its extensive search efforts with nothing more than unsupported claims that the City should have searched for non-responsive records he never requested.

Furthermore, under the Model Rules, agencies are encouraged to use technology to provide public records more quickly, and if possible, less expensively. WAC 44-14-04001. To achieve these goals, the City relies on Microsoft Outlook and email archiving technology for storing and retrieving digital records. The City appropriately used these programs to search for and locate responsive records – including the 39 appointments that were related to I-502.

West fails to acknowledge that the City provided him records identifiable are responsive to his request. According to West, the Court should find the City's records search and production procedures and tools defective because the City did not provide West with records he never requested. This reading of the PRA would give agencies a disincentive to invest in technology to manage and retrieve records and directly violate the Model Rules' guidance.

G. The PRA does not require agencies to produce multiple copies of the same record.

Even if the trial court erred in finding that the calendar printouts were not responsive, the City did not violate the PRA because the five weekly calendar view printouts, at most, contain the same information contained in the 39 individual appointments related to I-502 that were provided. The City complied with the PRA by providing West with all of the information contained in the Outlook system related to I-502. That information is contained in the .ICS individual calendar format. *See* Appendix A.

Agencies are required to produce public records in response to requests. RCW 42.56.070. The PRA does not require agencies to provide duplicative copies of existing records. There are no Washington cases

that address the issue of duplicate records, however, the issue has been addressed in a number of Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) cases. Washington courts often look to FOIA cases for guidance where Washington law is silent. Hearst v. Hoppe, 90 Wn. 2d 123, 128, 580 P. 2d 246 (1978). Federal Courts have held that agencies are not required to search for and provide duplicative records unless those records contain unique information. In discussing a FOIA request, the court stated that "it would be illogical and wasteful to require an agency to produce multiple copies of the exact same document. Cf. Crooker v. United States State *Dep't*, 628 F.2d 9, 10–11 (D.C.Cir.1980) (declining to require one agency to produce copies of the same records already produced by another agency, because FOIA's purpose of providing access to government materials had already been satisfied). The search was not inadequate simply because it failed to produce duplicate copies of responsive records." Defenders of Wildlife v. U.S. Dep't of Interior, 314 F. Supp. 2d 1, 9-10 (D.D.C. 2004)

Under West's interpretation of the PRA, the City would need to find and produce every permutation of the relevant data produced to West, including, for example, printouts of the calendars in every possible view and on different colored paper, with different fonts or different paper size. The PRA has no such requirement. Here, the trial court properly found

that City located and produced individual appointments using the search terms communicated to West. The PRA did not require the City to produce the five weekly calendar printouts.

V. CONCLUSION

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